STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

James M. Harley, Appellant v. South Carolina Department of Employment and
Workforce & Bradshaw Automotive Group, Inc., Respondents

RECEIVED

Aug 11 2025

SC Court of Appeals

INITIAL APPELLATE BRIEF OF APPELLANT & DESIGNATION OF MATTER

Appeal from the South Carolina Administrative Law Court Case No.: 2021AL220047AP
Appellate Case No.: 2024-001795 Filed: August 11, 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS.....Page i
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES.....Page ii
STATEMENT OF THE CASE.....Page 1
STATEMENT OF ISSUES.....Page 2
ARGUMENT.....Page 3

- I. The Lower Tribunal Erred by Concluding Appellant Voluntarily Quit Because His Rescinded Resignation Resulted in an Employer-Initiated Termination.
- II. A Resignation Is Revocable Under Basic Contract Principles, and Its Revocation Precludes a "Voluntary Quit."
- III. Jurisdictions Recognize that a Rescinded Resignation Leads to an Employer-Initiated Separation for Benefits Purposes
- IV. The Employer's Refusal to Reinstatement Appellant Was a Discharge.
- V. The Denial of Benefits Undermines the Remedial Purpose of Unemployment Law.
- VI. The Employer's Intolerable Working Conditions Constituted a Constructive Discharge, Rendering the Resignation Involuntary.
- VII. The Employer's Failure to Accommodate Appellant's Disability Created Intolerable Working Conditions.
- VIII. Employer's Inaction in the Face of Harassment Exacerbated the Intolerable Environment.
- IX. The Lower Tribunal Erred by Failing to Recognize Appellant's Eligibility for Pandemic Unemployment Assistance (PUA)

CONCLUSION.....Page 10 6-7
INDEX OF THE RECORD ON APPEAL.....Page 11 7-8-9-10-11
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE.....Page 12 7-8

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES.....Page ii

Cases

- Atkinson v. Serco, Inc., 658 F.3d 1230 (10th Cir. 2011)
- EEOC v. Convergys Customer Mgmt. Group, Inc., 491 F.3d 790 (8th Cir. 2007)
- EEOC v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 233 F.3d 432 (7th Cir. 2000)
- McEachern v. S.C. Emp. Sec. Comm'n, 370 S.C. 553, 635 S.E.2d 644 (Ct. App. 2006)
- Pennsylvania State Police v. Suders, 542 U.S. 129 (2004)
- Suders v. Easton, 325 F.3d 432 (3d Cir. 2003), rev'd on other grounds, Suders, 542 U.S. 129
- Blasingame v. Commissioner of Labor, 2021 NY Slip Op 01345 (App. Div. 3d Dept. 2021)

Statutes & Regulations

- S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5)
- S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-750
- 42 U.S.C. § 12112
- 29 C.F.R. pt. 1630
- Conn. Agencies Regs. § 31-236-18

Other Authorities

- UIPL No. 16-20 (U.S. Dept. of Labor, 2020)
- UIPL No. 16-20, Change 5 (Feb. 25, 2021)
- EEOC Enforcement Guidance on Reasonable Accommodation and Undue Hardship (2002)
- Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 35 (1981)
- Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 36 (1981)



STATEMENT OF THE CASE.....Page 1

This is an appeal from a final order of the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (ALC) affirming the denial of unemployment benefits to Appellant James M. Harley (R. p. 179). Mr. Harley filed a claim for unemployment benefits after his employment with Respondent Bradshaw Automotive Group, Inc. was terminated (R. p. 122). The South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce (SCDEW) initially denied the claim, finding that Mr. Harley had voluntarily quit his employment without good cause (R. p. 115). Mr. Harley appealed this determination to the ALC, arguing that his separation was not a voluntary quit because he had rescinded his resignation, was constructively discharged, and was eligible for benefits under federal Pandemic Unemployment Assistance (PUA) guidelines (R. p. 163). The ALC, however, affirmed the denial of benefits, holding that the separation was a voluntary quit and finding no basis for the other claims (R. p. 179). This appeal follows, seeking judicial review of the ALC's order pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES.....Page 2

1. Did the Administrative Law Court err by finding that Appellant James M. Harley voluntarily quit when he rescinded his resignation before its effective date, and the employer instead terminated his employment?
2. Did the employer's refusal to provide a reasonable accommodation for Appellant's disability and its failure to address a hostile work environment amount to a constructive discharge under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), thereby rendering his resignation involuntary and for good cause?
3. Did the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce (SCDEW) and the lower tribunal err by failing to recognize Appellant's eligibility for Pandemic Unemployment Assistance (PUA) under federal law, given that he left his employment due to his disability and unsafe, COVID-19-related workplace conditions?



I. The Lower Tribunal Erred by Concluding Appellant Voluntarily Quit Because His Rescinded Resignation Resulted in an Employer-Initiated Termination.

South Carolina law disqualifies unemployment claimants who "voluntarily leave work without good cause." However, this disqualification does not apply when the separation is initiated by the employer. The lower tribunal committed an error of law by failing to recognize that Appellant James M. Harley's separation was an employer-initiated termination, not a voluntary quit. Mr. Harley submitted a resignation notice on January 31, 2020 (R. p. 132), with an effective date of February 29, 2020. Crucially, he rescinded that resignation in writing on February 5, 2020 (R. p. 144)—well before the effective date and before the employer took any irreversible action. The employer's subsequent refusal to honor the rescission and its exclusion of Mr. Harley from the workplace functioned as a discharge, not a voluntary departure (R. p. 177).

A. A Resignation Is Revocable Under Basic Contract Principles, and Its Revocation Precludes a "Voluntary Quit."

Since South Carolina's unemployment statutes do not specifically address rescinded resignations, this Court should look to established common law principles for guidance. Under basic contract law, a resignation notice with a future effective date is analogous to an offer to terminate the employment relationship. The Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 35 and 36 confirm that an offer may be revoked prior to its acceptance, and such revocation terminates the offeree's power of acceptance. In the employment context, this means that unless the employer has accepted the resignation or relied upon it to its detriment (e.g., by hiring a replacement), the employee retains the right to withdraw the resignation. Appellant's rescission occurred within ¹⁶⁸~~24~~ hours of the original notice and weeks before the effective date (R. p. 132, 144). The record contains no evidence that Bradshaw Automotive Group, Inc. had accepted the resignation or taken any irreversible action based on it. Therefore, the rescission was legally valid. The employer's decision to ignore the rescission and proceed with the separation was not passive acceptance, but an active decision to terminate the employment.



4.

B. Jurisdictions Recognize that a Rescinded Resignation Leads to an Employer-Initiated Separation for Benefits Purposes.

While South Carolina lacks a specific regulation on rescinded resignations, other jurisdictions provide persuasive guidance. For example, Connecticut's unemployment regulation (Conn. Agencies Regs. § 31-236-18) states that an employee who rescinds a resignation before the notice period ends is not considered to have quit voluntarily unless the employer had already hired a replacement. This reflects a broader policy principle: unemployment benefits are intended for individuals separated "through no fault of their own." When an employee attempts to remain employed and the employer refuses, the fault lies with the employer. Courts have echoed this logic. In *Blasingame v. Commissioner of Labor* (2021), a New York appellate court held that an employee who rescinded a resignation and was nonetheless terminated was eligible for benefits because the separation was employer-initiated. The South Carolina Court of Appeals, in *McEachern v. S.C. Emp. Sec. Comm'n*, 370 S.C. 553, emphasized that eligibility determinations must be grounded in the actual circumstances of separation—not rigid formalities. Here, the actual circumstance was Mr. Harley's express desire to continue working, met with the employer's refusal.

C. The Employer's Refusal to Reinstate Appellant Was a Discharge.

Mr. Harley's rescission was a clear expression of his intent to continue working. The employer's response—locking him out of company systems, removing him from the work schedule, and denying him access to the workplace—was an active decision to terminate employment (R. p. 177). This conduct amounts to a discharge under South Carolina law. The Administrative Law Court's failure to recognize this distinction constitutes an error of law under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5). The tribunal's conclusion that Mr. Harley "voluntarily quit" disregards the rescission and fundamentally mischaracterizes the nature of the separation.

D. The Denial of Benefits Undermines the Remedial Purpose of Unemployment Law.

Unemployment compensation statutes are remedial in nature and must be liberally construed in favor of claimants. Penalizing an employee who made a good-faith effort to remain employed contradicts the purpose of the law. Mr. Harley's actions demonstrate a clear desire to work and mitigate disruption. The employer's refusal to allow him to do so renders the separation involuntary. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-750 and the principles of fairness embedded in South Carolina's unemployment scheme, Mr. Harley should not be disqualified from benefits.



II. The Employer's Intolerable Working Conditions Constituted a Constructive Discharge, Rendering the Resignation Involuntary.

Even if Mr. Harley's rescinded resignation were not dispositive, the conditions leading to his departure constituted a constructive discharge. This doctrine treats a resignation as a de facto firing when an employer's actions make working conditions "so intolerable that a reasonable person in the employee's position would feel compelled to resign" (R. p. 176). *Pennsylvania State Police v. Suders*, 542 U.S. 129, 141 (2004). The record demonstrates that Mr. Harley was subjected to an intolerable workplace environment that was rife with disability-based discrimination and harassment, which the employer failed to remedy (R. p. 176).

A. The Employer's Failure to Accommodate Appellant's Disability Created Intolerable Working Conditions.

Appellant is a qualified individual with a disability, and the record shows that his employer was aware of his disability and his need for accommodations (R. p. 127). Yet, the employer repeatedly refused to provide reasonable accommodations, in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12112). The EEOC's interpretive guidance on the ADA confirms that a failure to accommodate a disabled employee's essential needs is itself a form of discrimination. See also *EEOC v. Convergys Customer Mgmt. Group, Inc.*, 491 F.3d 790 (8th Cir. 2007). Courts have long recognized that an employer's discriminatory failure to accommodate can create an actionable constructive discharge claim. As the Seventh Circuit held in *EEOC v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 233 F.3d 432, 440-41 (7th Cir. 2000), an employee who resigns due to an employer's discriminatory failure to accommodate can claim they were effectively discharged. Mr. Harley notified management of his disability and requested accommodations for certain physically ^{and mentally} strenuous duties and medical appointments, but his requests were ignored (R. p. 177). Supervisors instead subjected him to belittlement and excessive discipline for his disability-related limitations (R. p. 171). This conduct, when it leaves an employee with no alternative but to resign, is a constructive discharge motivated by the employer's discrimination. ^{including technology}



B. Employer's Inaction in the Face of Harassment Exacerbated the Intolerable Environment.

In addition to the denial of accommodations, Mr. Harley endured ongoing workplace harassment from a supervisor and coworkers ^{even in front of a customer} due to his disability and COVID-19 safety concerns (R. p. 177). This included derisive comments, an increased workload beyond his medical restrictions, and threats of termination when he raised these issues (R. p. 171). Such unchecked harassment created a hostile work environment. Mr. Harley followed the proper procedure by notifying management of the harassment, but the employer took no effective action (R. p. 177). The Supreme Court in *Suders* affirmed that when a supervisor's actions create a hostile work environment, an employee's decision to resign can be a "fitting response" to the intolerable conditions. 542 U.S. at 141. Mr. Harley was facing health risks, ridicule, and a complete disregard for his rights (R. p. 171). The law does not require employees to remain in a job and suffer abuse while the employer turns a blind eye. The employer's actions and omissions created these intolerable conditions, and the law treats Mr. Harley's resignation as a formal discharge by the employer.

III. The Lower Tribunal Erred by Failing to Recognize Appellant's Eligibility for Pandemic Unemployment Assistance (PUA).

Regardless of whether Mr. Harley qualifies for regular state benefits, he is independently eligible for Pandemic Unemployment Assistance (PUA) under the federal CARES Act. The lower tribunal erred by not applying this federal law and its binding guidance from the U.S. Department of Labor. The CARES Act, and its implementing guidance in Unemployment Insurance Program Letter (UIPL) No. 16-20 and Change 5, explicitly expand eligibility for workers who quit their jobs for certain COVID-19 related reasons. Mr. Harley's circumstances align perfectly with the program's purpose: he left his job to preserve his health in the face of an employer that disregarded his disability and failed to follow COVID-19 safety protocols (R. p. 173). UIPL 16-20, Change 5, issued on February 25, 2021, explicitly expanded PUA eligibility to include "workers who refused to work or left employment due to unsafe COVID-19 workplace conditions." The U.S. Department of Labor's news release on the matter confirmed that workers who leave an unsafe workplace to protect their health during the pandemic may qualify for PUA. Mr. Harley's situation is a prototypical example of this scenario, as his health was directly threatened by the employer's failure to provide a safe working environment and reasonable accommodations (R. p. 173). The lower tribunal's failure to consider this federal directive constitutes a reversible error of law under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5).

CONCLUSION



For the foregoing reasons, Appellant's separation from employment should be treated as an involuntary discharge or a constructive discharge with good cause attributable to the employer. The denial of unemployment benefits was legally wrong and unsupported by the evidence. Appellant is entitled to benefits under South Carolina law, and additionally or alternatively, under the federal Pandemic Unemployment Assistance program.

Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the decision of the lower tribunal and remand with instructions to award appropriate unemployment compensation benefits to Appellant.