THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Case No.: 21-ALJ-22-0047-AP

Appellate Case No. 2024-001795

James M. Harley,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment
and Workforce and Bradshaw Automotive
Group, Inc.,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF
EMPLOYMENT AND WORKFORCE AND BRADSHAW AUTOMOTIVE GROUP

Valerie McMellan, Esq.
PO Box 8597
Columbia, SC 29202
Attorney for Respondent South Carolina
Department of Employment and Workforce

Adam S. Ruffin, Esq.
1320 Main St, Ste 300
Columbia SC 29201
Appellant Attorney

Sarah Gable, Esq.

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE APPELLATE PANEL'S DECISION BECAUSE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE PANEL'S FINDING THAT APPELLANT VOLUNTARILY QUIT HIS EMPLOYMENT WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE EMPLOYMENT WHEN HE VOLUNTARILY SUBMITTED A NOTICE OF RESIGNATION ON JANUARY 31, 2020.

In this case, the ALC found substantial evidence in the record supported the Panel's determination that Appellant voluntarily quit his employment without good cause attributable to the Employer. (R. pp. 236-242). An insured worker is eligible to receive benefits only if the Department finds he "has separated, **through no fault of his own**, from his most recent bona fide employer." S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-110(5) (2021) (emphasis added). Fault in this context "is not limited to something that is blameworthy, culpable or wrong," but rather "must be construed as meaning failure or volition." *Stone Mfg. Co. v. S.C. Emp't Sec. Comm'n*, 219 S.C. 239, 246-47, 64 S.E.2d 644, 646 (1951) (citations omitted). Further, an insured worker is ineligible for UI benefits if he "left [his employment] voluntarily, without good cause." S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1) (2021); see *Ex parte S.C. Emp't Sec. Comm'n*, 332 S.C. 286, 288, 504 S.E.2d 345, 346 (Ct. App. 1998) ("An employee who voluntarily resigns from employment without good cause is ineligible for unemployment benefits."). The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that "good cause" means cause "attributable to or connected with" the employment. *Faile v. S.C. Emp't Sec. Comm'n*, 267 S.C. 536, 541, 230 S.E.2d 219, 222 (1976). Importantly, when a claimant attempts to show he had good cause to quit his employment, he must show there was something attributable to the job or workplace itself that made it unreasonable

for the claimant to continue working. Attributable to the employer means “that it must be the work or the employer himself that creates the condition making it unreasonable to expect this employee to continue to work.” *Ewing v. SSM Health Care*, 265 S.W.3d 882, 887 (Mo. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Mena v. Cosentino Grp., Inc.*, 233 S.W.3d 800, 804 (Mo. Ct. App. 2007)). Good cause also means that the circumstances attributable to the employer “would cause a reasonable person in a similar situation to leave employment rather than continue working...” 76 Am.Jur.2d *Unemployment Compensation* §105, Westlaw (database updated May 2025). Additionally, “[t]o be entitled to unemployment compensation benefits for voluntarily quitting a job for good cause, the claimant must have explored all viable options before making the decision to quit.” 76 Am.Jur.2d *Unemployment Compensation* §104, Westlaw (database updated May 2025).

Here, the ALC found substantial evidence in the record supported the Panel’s finding that Appellant voluntarily quit his employment without good cause when he submitted a resignation on January 31, 2020, citing his desire to move to the Midwest for personal reasons – namely to be near his son. (R. p. 136). In Appellant’s fact-finding questionnaire he completed with the Department on May 4, 2020, he indicated he was forced to retire from employment earlier than anticipated for unknown reasons. (R. pp. 12-14). Later, during testimony before the Tribunal, Appellant asserted his reasons for quitting were due to alleged bullying and lack of accommodation. However, he had only sent these concerns to human resources the evening prior to—or approximately 13 hours before—his resignation. (R. p. 136; pp.144-145). Additionally, all parties agree that after Appellant submitted his resignation that he attempted to rescind his resignation. There was no

indication in testimony or other submitted evidence that any change in his employment had occurred. (R. p. 75, line 29-p. 76, line 5). As such, the alleged issues relied on by the Appellant would not have caused a reasonable person to quit employment rather than continue working. *See Stone*, 219 S.C. 239, 247, 64 S.E.2d 644, 647. Indeed, Appellant wanted to continue working a one-month notice period (until February 29, 2020) after he submitted his resignation on January 31, 2020, and then he later attempted to rescind his resignation. In both of those scenarios, Appellant sought to continue working under the same circumstances. Accordingly, substantial evidence supports the Panel’s finding that Appellant voluntarily quit his employment without good cause attributable to his employment. The Court should affirm.

II. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY HELD THE PANEL DID NOT COMMIT AN ERROR OF LAW WHEN IT FOUND APPELLANT HAD VOLUNTARILY QUIT WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE WHEN APPELLANT ATTEMPTED TO WITHDRAW HIS RESIGNATION PRIOR TO HIS RESIGNATION’S EFFECTIVE DATE AND THE EMPLOYER DID NOT CONSENT TO THE WITHDRAWAL OF THE RESIGNATION.

As the ALC discussed, “South Carolina appellate courts have not adjudicated the issue of whether the attempted rescission of a resignation transforms a case of leaving work involuntarily into a termination of employment by the employer.” (R. p. 240). “In South Carolina, employment is presumed to be at will,” meaning “either party may terminate employment ‘at any time, for any reason or for no reason at all’ without incurring liability.” *Hall v. UBS Fin. Services Inc.*, 435 S.C. 75, 81, 866 S.E.2d 337, 339 (S.C. 2021) (internal citations omitted). Our courts have recognized, applying general contract principles, that in certain circumstances an employee’s at-will status may be altered, including certain

circumstances related to an employee handbook and when the termination is in a violation of a public policy. *Hall*, 435 S.C. 75, 81 at FN 3.

Under general contract principles, an offer is a bargained-for exchange that “creates a power of acceptance in the offeree.” *Carolina Amusement Co., Inc. v. Connecticut Life Ins.* 313 S.C. 215, 220, 437 S.E.2d 122,125 (Ct.App.1993) (internal citations omitted).

Particularly, in this matter, there was no bargained-for exchange in the “offer” of resignation. Rather, Appellant’s resignation was an execution of the doctrine of employment at-will, to terminate one’s employment. This initiation of the separation process did not and should not be considered by this Court to have transmuted Appellant’s employment into some contract of definite employment.

Further, “[a]n employee who submits a voluntary resignation without good cause, but subsequently attempts to withdraw such resignation before its effective date, will generally be deemed to have left his or her employment voluntarily if the employer does not consent to the withdrawal of the resignation.” 76 Am.Jur.2d *Unemployment Compensation* §137, Westlaw (database updated May 2025). This is consistent with a majority of jurisdictions and there is no appellate South Carolina precedent otherwise. *See Cunliffe v. Industrial Claim Appeals Office of State of Colorado*, 51 P.3d 1088 (Colo. Ct. App. 2002) (conducting a jurisdictional analysis and finding the majority of jurisdictions deny unemployment benefits, notwithstanding an employer’s refusal to accept a withdrawal of a resignation). Here, Appellant was advised on February 5, 2020, that his resignation was accepted. There was no indication that the Employer consented to the withdrawal of Appellant’s resignation.

Appellant also attempts to argue that the denial of unemployment benefits is contrary to the remedial nature of unemployment insurance benefits. (App.Initial.Brief p. 4). However, the unemployment compensation statutes are clear that unemployment benefits are reserved for those who become unemployed **due to no fault of their own**. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-110(5). It naturally follows that when an employee voluntarily quits their available employment without good cause attributable to the employer, they have become unemployed due to their own actions, or their own fault. *See Stone, supra* (explaining that fault also means due to the employee's own volition).

Accordingly, the ALC properly found the Panel did not commit any error of law in finding Appellant voluntarily quit his employment without good cause attributable to the Employer. Thus, this Court should affirm.

III. THIS COURT SHOULD DISREGARD APPELLANT'S ARGUMENTS REGARDING DETERMINATIONS THAT ARE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT.

Appellant's arguments regarding whether the Employer violated the ADA and his eligibility for Pandemic Unemployment Assistance were not raised and ruled upon by the Appellate Panel and must be disregarded. (R. pp. 236-242). "Courts sitting in an appellate capacity may not consider issues not raised or ruled on by [an] administrative agency." *Carson v. South Carolina Dep't of Natural Res.*, 371 S.C. 114, 120, 638 S.E.2d 45, 48 (2002). Because this Court sits in an appellate capacity, its review is limited to the Panel's decision on appeal to this Court. *See Timms v. Timms*, 286 S.C. 291, 294, 333 S.E.2d 74, 75 (Ct.App. 1985). ("We are confined to the record in deciding issues on appeal."). The issues before and ruled upon by the Panel, and affirmed by the ALC, were whether the

Appellant voluntarily quit his available employment without good cause attributable to the employment and whether the Tribunal hearing officer erred in the administration of the case. As such, Court is limited to a review of those issues and should disregard Appellant's other arguments and affirm the ALC decision.

a. Appellant's argument that he had good cause to quit based on his own conclusory statement that the Employer violated the ADA is not before the court.

Appellant attempts to argue that he had good cause to quit because he requested accommodation and erroneously believes the Employer violated the ADA. Even if this matter were before the Court and notwithstanding Appellant's unsupported and arbitrary conclusion that the Employer violated the ADA, the Panel *did* consider Appellant's request for accommodation in evaluating whether he quit for good cause.¹ Specifically, the Panel found that Appellant "did not allow the employer a reasonable opportunity to address this concerns and his request for reasonable accommodation before he offered his resignation

¹ Appellant's assertion that failing to provide a reasonable accommodation constitutes a violation of the ADA fails for two reasons. First, as the Seventh Circuit opinion he cited makes clear, failure to accommodate alone is generally *insufficient* to state a claim of constructive discharge under the ADA. See *EEOC v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 233 F.3d 432, 440 (7th Cir. 2000) (stating constructive discharge requires a finding that work conditions were intolerable and that the discharge was due to the disability); see *Johnson v. Shalala*, 991 F.2d 126, 131 (4th Cir. 1993) ("The consequences of regarding every failure to accommodate an employee as a constructive discharge would be significant. ... It is far better for all concerned to resolve the dispute while the employment relationship is ongoing.") Second, *because Appellant caused the breakdown* in the interactive process by resigning hours later, which failed to give the employer time to engage in the interactive process, as well as determining whether another appropriate accommodation existed, the *employer is not liable* for an alleged violation of the ADA. See *Tarquinio v. Johns Hopkins U. Applied Physics Lab*, 141 F.4th 568, 575 (4th Cir. 2025) (explaining employee's obligations during interactive process); see also *Smith v. CSRA*, 12 F.4th 396, 415 (4th Cir. 2021) (finding five weeks between a request and the accommodation being provided not unreasonable).

the next day.” (R. p. 166). The Panel’s finding is supported by Appellant’s own testimony and documents Appellant submitted to the Employer. Appellant testified that he brought the issue up to human resources in writing. (R. p. 52, lines 1-4). Appellant’s submitted exhibit reflects that a request for accommodation was made via email at 6:33 PM on January 30, 2020. (R. pp. 144-145). And then Appellant resigned by email the following morning at 7:46 AM on January 31, 2020, citing his personal desire to move to the Midwest to be near his son. (R. p. 136). Thus, substantial evidence exists in the record to support a finding Appellant quit his employment without providing the Employer an opportunity to address his accommodation request, and the Court should otherwise disregard Appellant’s argument regarding ADA violations and affirm the ALC decision.

b. Appellant’s assertion that the department acted arbitrarily regarding his claims for Pandemic Unemployment Assistance is not before this court.

Appellant makes incorrect conclusory assertions that the Department acted arbitrarily, or otherwise incorrectly, in issuing determinations regarding his claims for pandemic unemployment assistance.² However, the determinations regarding pandemic unemployment assistance and any associated issues are not before this Court, and therefore this Court may not grant relief on those matters. As such, the Court should disregard Appellant’s arguments regarding determinations on Appellant’s eligibility for Pandemic Unemployment Assistance and affirm the ALC decision.

² All determinations of eligibility are based upon the requirements set forth in the State’s Employment and Labor Laws regarding unemployment insurance, the federal CARES Act regarding pandemic unemployment assistance, and guidance issued in the Department of Labor’s Unemployment Insurance Program Letters.

CONCLUSION

The party challenging the ruling bears the burden of proving that the Panel's decision is unsupported by the evidence. *Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp, supra*. The only decision that is properly before this Court is the decision affirming Appellant voluntarily quit his employment without good cause attributable to the employment. The decision of the Panel is supported by substantial evidence in the record as a whole, is in accordance with applicable law, and is not arbitrary, capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion, or controlled by an error of law. As a result, the ALC's decision affirming the Panel was correct and this Court should affirm.